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THE CITY OF TAMARAC 
CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYMENT INVESTIGATION REPORT 

 
 
 
Date:  December 30, 2019 
 
To: Lerenzo Calhoun, IPMA-CP 

Director 
Human Resources  
7525 NW 88th Ave. 
Tamarac, FL 33321 
Tel: 954-597-3609  
Fax: 954-597-3610 
Email: Lerenzo.Calhoun@tamarac.org 
www.tamarac.org  

 
RE: COMMISSIONER MARLON BOLTON’S CONDUCT RESULTING IN HR AND 

RESIDENTS’ COMPLAINTS 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

The City of Tamarac (the “City”) is home to a wonderfully diverse melting pot of residents 
including American Indians, Pacific Islanders, African Americans, Hispanics, Asians and many 
others. According to the Census 2018 database1, 39.3% of Tamarac residents refer to themselves 
as: White (non-Hispanic); 28.6%. of Tamarac residents refer to themselves as Black or African 
American; and 27.5% of Tamarac residents refer to themselves as Hispanic or Latino (Exhibit 1). 
The City is experiencing the same demographic changes as all other cities in the South Florida 
region. The population is becoming younger and more diverse, and the City is positioning itself to 
meet the service demands of its new residents. 

 
The City of Tamarac covers an area of 12 square miles and is one of Broward County’s 

newer additions, having been incorporated in 1963.  The City Manager is the chief administrative 
officer2 and is responsible to the Commission for the administration of all City affairs placed in 
his charge by or under the City’s Charter. Code of Ordinances City of Tamarac, Florida Codified 
through Ordinance No. O-2019-01, enacted January 23, 2019. (Supp. No. 100).   

 
1 https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/tamaraccityflorida/PST045218# 

 
2 C. MANAGER/ADMINISTRATOR The council-manager form of municipal government provides for a separation of legislative 
and executive powers. Legislative authority is vested in the council, while a manager, appointed by the council, serves as chief 
administrator. Depending on local preference, the administrator position may be titled “manager” or “administrator.”  The Florida 
Municipal Official’s Manual: A publication of the Florida League of Cities with the assistance of the John Scott Dailey Florida 
Institute of Government, 2013. 

 

http://www.tamarac.org/
https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/tamaraccityflorida/PST045218
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The many stakeholders within the City contributed to the “2014/15 Strategic Plan: Getting 

Us There from Here” (Exhibit 2)3 which was based on the following five (5) strategic goals adopted 
a few years ago: 

 
1. Inclusive Community; 
2. Healthy Financial Environment; 
3. Dynamic Organizational Culture;  
4. Clear Communication; and 
5. A Vibrant Community 

 
In Exhibit 2 the City’s own reported demographics are 48.0% White, 23.5% Hispanic, and 

22.5% Black, showing 9-5 percentage points off from the Census data.  The City’s reported “City 
employee demographics” shows the following data: 48.0% White, 21.0% Hispanic, and 24.0% 
Black.  The reported community demographics are remarkably close to the City’s employees’ 
demographics. 

 
The five (5) strategic goals dovetail in the City’s Vision, Mission and Values, as stated below 

(Exhibit 3): 
 

Vision: The City of Tamarac, our community of choice,-Leading the Nation in quality of 
life through safe neighborhoods, a vibrant economy, exceptional customer service 
and recognized excellence. 

 
Mission: It is our job to foster and create an environment that: 
 

• Responds to the Customer 
• Creates and Innovates 
• Works as a Team 
• Achieves Results 
• Makes a Difference 

 
Values: As Stewards of the public trust we value: 
 

• Vision 
• Integrity 
• Efficiency 
• Quality Service 

 
This investigation revolves around allegations made by City employees, residents, and Broward 
residents involved in the City’s election of 2018 against City Commissioner Marlon Bolton.  The 

 
3 https://www.tamarac.org/141/Strategic-Planning  
 

https://www.tamarac.org/141/Strategic-Planning
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allegations range from allegations that his actions created a hostile work environment to campaign 
violations. 
 

CITY HR INVESTIGATOR-SPECIAL COUNSEL 
 

Levi Williams, Esq. 
Law Offices of Levi Williams, P.A. 

12 SE 7th Street, Ste. 710 
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 

(954) 463-1628/www.leviwilliamslaw.com 
 

The City opt to appoint a special counsel to perform this particular investigation due to the fact 
that the Respondent is a sitting commissioner to whom the City Manager, and necessarily 
exempting his subordinate(s) (the HR Director/Department), and the City Attorney all whom 
report as direct reports.  The special counsel assignment is intended to provide the City employees 
with an objective, fair and impartial investigation of their complaints free of any taint of political 
bias. 
 

PARTIES 
 
City Complainants4: Robyn Thalenfeld; Elise Boston; John Coates; Billy Duesler, and 

Chris Dixon. 
 
Resident Complainants: Larry Goehrig and Ana Fusco. 
 
Respondent:  Marlon B. Bolton, Commissioner Dist. 1 
 

EVENT LOCATION 
 
This investigation involved multiple events from July 2017 to present in various locations 
including: City Hall, the Caporella Aquatic Center, and the Tamarac Library.  
 

EMPLOYER 
 
The employer is the City of Tamarac, a body politic and corporate. 
 

CONFIDENTIALITY 
 

 
4 Prior to this Investigative Report being submitted as a final work product, the following individuals withdrew their complaints: 
Linda Probert, Rance GaedeZach Steiner, and Mildred Velasquez.  Ergo, their complaints and associated statements will not appear 
in this Investigative Report.  However, as any written complaint is a public record, it is important to protect the objectivity of this 
investigation in preserving the Respondent’s responses to these complaints as there are no other writings to ensure his responses 
are preserved.  Consequently, same will appear in this Investigative Report. 

http://www.leviwilliamslaw.com/
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The Florida’s Public Records Act, codified in F.S. §119.01 General state policy on public records, 
states: (1) It is the policy of this state that all state, county, and municipal records are open for 
personal inspection and copying by any person. Providing access to public records is a duty of 
each agency.  This is not an opinion on whether or not this report or any portion of this report is 
confidential as that determination is a legal determination to be made by the City Attorney. 
 

INTERVIEWS 
 
All interviews were performed at the City of Tamarac, 7525 NW 88th Ave., Tamarac, FL 33321.  
The following individuals were interviewed in this investigatory process: 
 

1. 11/26/18 Mildred “Millie” Velasquez, Tech-HR Risk Management-Complainant* 
2. 11/26/18 Robyn Thalenfeld, Executive Assistant to the City Manager-Complainant 
3. 12/12/18 John Coates, Lieutenant-Complainant 
4. 12/12/18 Billy Duesler, Captain-Complainant 
5. 12/13/18 Chris Dixon, Captain-Complainant 
6. 12/13/18 Larry Goehrig, Resident/Candidate Distr. 2.-Complainant 
7. 12/13/18 Zach Steiner, Water System Operator, Complainant* 
8. 12/13/18 Rance Gaede, Recreation Superintendent, Witness* 
9. 12/13/18 Linda Probert, Asst. Director of Parks and Recreation, Complainant* 
10. 12/14/18 Elise Boston, Public Info. & Media Specialist-Complainant 
11. 12/14/18 Pat Teufel-City Clerk-Witness 
12. 12/14/18 Ana Fusco, Pres. BTU-Complainant 
13. 02/17/19 Marlon B. Bolton, Commissioner Dist. 1-Respondent 
14. 03/06/19 Michelle J. Gomez, Mayor-Witness 
15. 04/04/19 Debra Placko, Vice Mayor/Dist. 4-Witness 
16. 04/09/19 Mike Gelin, Commissioner Dist. 2-Witness 
17. 04/09/19 Julie Fishman, Commissioner Dist. 3-Witness 

 
SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE 

 
ROBYN THALENFELD: 

 
Ms. Thalenfeld provided me with a copy of notes she made of the 7/10/17 incident recounting 
Commissioner Bolton’s interactions with Ms. Velasquez and Elise Boston, and same was 
considered in full in the analysis of this investigation.  (Exhibit 6). 
 
In her interview with this investigator, Ms. Thalenfeld advised that she has worked for the City 
from 1996 to present as the Executive Assistant to the City Manager, and part of her duties 
involved overseeing the administrative Coordinator position that was held by Ms. Velasquez until 
she sought reassignment. 
 
Ms. Thalenfeld advised that Commissioner Bolton’s involvement in city management started after 
his election in 2016.  Further, his 2017 travel budget was an all-time high at approximately 
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$19,000.00.  She stated that the City runs monthly travel accounts based on a standard 
mathematical process.  The public records request for the commissioners’ travel budget was a 
projection based on what we think would be spent for the selected travel itineraries.  However, for 
FY 2018 she stated that the average commissioner’s travel budget was around $8,500.00 and the 
Mayor’s was approximately $10,000.  
 
Ms. Thalenfeld recounted that in March 2017, Commissioner Bolton flew to DC for an event.  
While in Washington he advised that he had to fly back that Friday because his son had an asthma 
attack.  He then flew back to DC on Sunday.  Upon his return he demanded to be reimbursed for 
the additional costs without presenting an invoice for the interim trips and alleged that the City 
was “nickeling and diming [him].” 
 
On July 10, 2017, Ms. Velasquez called Ms. Thelenfeld and advised her that she was coming 
upstairs because Commissioner Bolton wanted to change the budget.  He followed her upstairs and 
screamed that we were talking about him and we can talk to his face.  He was loud and demanding 
that we change the values on the spreadsheet otherwise he would send emails to his constituents 
that staff makes errors.  He made me feel extremely uncomfortable and he was unprofessional.  He 
stated we have nowhere to go because of his position.  He was raging at Ms. Velasquez so much 
so that she thought she was going to lose her job.  
  
Additionally, prior to 2016 the commissioners were reimbursed for their travels.  After 2016, the 
City paid in advance using the Pro Card and advanced per diems for Commissioners Bolton and 
Fishman.  Also, Prior to 2016 there was a set budget for commissioners’ travel and additional 
documentation was required before a commissioner blew the budget.  She confirmed that 
Commissioner Bolton wanted his rewards linked to his Jet Blue and Marriott rewards accounts. 
 
Ms. Thalenfeld advised that she was with Ms. Boston when Commissioner Bolton initially called 
regarding his City pictures.  She stated that Ms. Boston answered on speaker phone so she could 
hear Commissioner Bolton screaming at her something to the effect of “…you make me look like 
an ape or a gorilla/or monkey…is this a joke…my head is so big.”  He accused Ms. Boston of 
doing it intentionally and advised that he was going to use his own photographer.  She felt that his 
interaction with Ms. Boston qualified as bullying, was thuggish, accusatory, and generally 
unprofessional. 
 
Ms. Thalenfeld also confirmed that he heard Commissioner Bolton tell “Millie” “Why do I need 
you…you are obsolete.” 
 
Ms. Thalenfeld advised that she would accept the findings and remedies presented by HR. 
 
LIEUTENANT JOHN COATES, JR.:  

 
Lieutenant Coates served the City as a firefighter for twenty-one years.  He asserts that over the 
years he has worked with the City’s administration and elected officials over the years with no 
problems individually or as a union. 
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Lieutenant Coates complaint revolves around the end of early voting in 2018 due to the fact that 
the Tamarac Fire Department were endorsing the opponents Mike Gelin and Elvin Villalobos.  
Lieutenant Coates alleged that Commissioner Bolton violated the elections laws in distributing 
campaign flyers in contradiction to law and an Order of 11/2/2018 (CACE 18-025690), which 
prohibited the distribution of said campaign flyers.   
 
Additionally, Lieutenant Coates alleged that Commissioner Bolton violated the requirement of no 
electioneering within 100 feet of the entrance to the polling room to advise voters that to vote their 
“skin color,” indicating African-American, and that Michelle Gomez is a Republican, in a 
nonpartisan race for Mayor.  Lieutenant Coates was further annoyed that Commissioner Bolton 
and County Commissioner Dale Holness were allowed to have music and people (Party at the 
Polls), including the “tamarac talk,” within 100 feet of the polling entrance. 
 
He further alleged that Commissioner Bolton, at the polls, stated that when Mike Gelin and Elvin 
Villalobos gets in they were going to have a meeting as he (Commissioner Bolton) had two years 
to go after his (Lieutenant Coates) pension.  Lieutenant Coates also asserted that Commissioner 
Bolton advised that they were going to fire the City Manager and install Chief Sayles.  This is in 
addition to the rumors that Ilene Lieberman and Commissioner Bolton, presumably if the elections 
had gone their way, would also fire the City attorney. 
 
Lieutenant Coates recounts another exchange with Commissioner Bolton where he was engaged 
in a campaign debate with two other firefighters, Omar Jirau and Donny.  Commissioner Bolton 
allegedly became upset and advised that he was going to have Mr. Jirau terminated or reassigned.  
Lieutenant Coates interjected and advised Commissioner Bolton that he could not do that to which 
Commissioner Bolton advised that “I have two on my list, you will be three.” 
 
Lieutenant Coates did not file a grievance pursuant to the CBA. 
 
WILLIAM DUESLER: 

 
Captain Duesler advised that he has worked for the City for almost fifteen years.  In that time he 
had never had a problem with a manager or an elected official, it has previously been a positive 
experience.   He has been the IAFF Loc. 3080 President for the past two years, and was Assistant 
President for the four years prior. 
 
He recounted that in October 2016 then Mr. Bolton approached him to not endorse the incumbent, 
Pam Bushner, and to endorse him instead.  He advised Mr. Bolton that the choice was made by a 
previous Union President.  Commissioner Bolton won in that race. 
 
In June or July of 2018, Commissioner Bolton approached Captain Duesler again regarding an 
endorsement.  He requested that the Union endorsed Mike Gelin.  We were supporting Larry 
Goerhig because we had concerns about a rumor that if Commissioner Bolton’s candidates got 
elected they would fire the City Manager and make Ilene Lieberman the new city manager and 
place her husband as the city attorney.  Captain Duesler also advised that at that encounter 
Commissioner Bolton stated “I hope you are hiring Black firefighters.” 
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The next encounter was during Early voting in 2018.  He alleged that Commissioner Bolton had 
illegal palm cards, plus there was some wrongful allegations regarding the signage for his 
candidates-“Signgate.”  He showed very little respect for the City’s firefighters as he pulled our 
cards out of voter’s hands to replace it with his own, as witnessed by Lt. Mike Boyhan.  The first 
day Captain Duesler was out at the polls he alleged that he heard other poll workers commenting 
on how an elected official could act so badly in demanding that voters only vote for Black people. 
Captain Duesler alleges that the second day he was at the polls he heard Commissioner Bolton tell 
a voter that Michelle Gomez was a White Jew-don’t vote for her-Ms. Gomez confronted 
Commissioner Bolton.  He asserts that he left because it bothered him. 
 
Captain Duesler alleges that on election day he was driving around the polls with relief supplies 
with Chris McCarthey in the Sabal Palm area.  Danny Acosta told him that he heard Commissioner 
Bolton tell a voter to vote the color of their skin, Black.  Captain Duesler said that information 
“pissed” him off he felt it was racist and made him feel terrible.  As a firefighter he said we do 
charity events for all people and he run into burning buildings, sacrificing his life, for all residents 
regardless of race or religion.  He ended with, “I will always work for the residents.” 
 
Captain Duesler did not file a grievance pursuant to the CBA. 
 
CHRIS DIXON: 

 
Captain Dixon has been a firefighter for the City since 1998 and a Member of the IAFF Local 
3080.  Captain Dixon recounted his experience at the polls and stated he does not like identity 
politics.  While at Early Voting at the Tamarac Library he alleges that he saw Commissioner 
Bolton, Mr. Villalobos and Mr. Gelin take cards out voters’ hands and replace it with their own.  
He also heard Commissioner Bolton tell voters that Ms. Gomez is a Republican…she is a Trump 
supporter…she can’t even speak Spanish…and that she is a White Jew.  Ms. Gomez retorted that 
he didn’t knowing anything about her.  He heard from Daniel Acosta and Lt. Korte that 
Commissioner Bolton also stated to voters that they should not listen to the firefighters just vote 
Black.  It is his understanding that Commissioner Bolton threatened Lt. Coates with termination 
or reassignment. 
 
Captain Dixon also voiced the rumor that if Mr. Gelin and Villalobos won that Commissioner 
Lieberman would come in and bring her husband. 
  
Captain Dixon believes that Commissioner Bolton has made the working environment hostile for 
him and others.  He is somewhat in shock at his behavior and certainly has a level of fear as to his 
own tenure with the City.  
 
Captain Dixon expects his elected officials to have an attitude that reflects leadership, 
professionalism and courtesy to all. 
 
Captain Dixon did not file a grievance pursuant to the CBA. 
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LARRY GOEHRIG: 

 
The City provided me with a copy of Mr. Goehrig’s statement and same was considered in full in 
the analysis of this investigation.  (Exhibit 7).   
 
Mr. Goehrig ran against Commissioner Gelin in the last race.  Mr. Goehrig provided this 
Investigator with videos and emails in support of his campaign law violations.  The sum and 
substance of which is the allegation that Commissioner Bolton intentionally violated the election 
laws and even a Court’s Order (Exhibit 8), in the palm cards he was allegedly handing out all the 
way up to and through election day.  Unfortunately, the City’s HR venue is not the venue for relief. 
 
Mr. Goehrig however, advised that he heard Commissioner Bolton tell a voter that “we don’t need 
another White cracker on the board.”  When he challenged Commissioner Bolton about the 
statement, Commissioner Bolton allegedly said “there is nothing you can do about it.” 
 
Mr. Goehrig further advised that Commissioner Bolton was very intimidating and bullying at the 
polls and the Commissioner allegedly even videotaped him and cursed at him.  Mr. Goehrig 
witnessed Commissioner Bolton doing the same things to the firefighters and teachers. 
 
PAT TEUFEL: 

 
Ms. Teufel is the City Clerk.  She advised that she has worked for the City for fifteen years and 
she had not seen a commissioner act the way that Commissioner Bolton acted in July of 2017.  She 
advised that after the workshop she needed each Commissioner to sign the documents for a bond 
closing.  She sought out Commissioner Bolton and came up on him having a loud conversation 
with Ms. Velasquez about travel.  See Exhibit 4 and Exhibit 5.  He had a very angry tone.  He was 
derogatory and nasty.  She said it was sad but morale is good in general with the other 
commissioners.  The City is weary from Commissioner Bolton and he refused to sign the bond 
documents. 
 
ELISE BOSTON: 

 
Ms. Boston has worked for the City for almost six and a half years as the Public Information & 
Media Specialist.  She cites the seminal event between her and Commissioner Bolton as occurring 
on or about July 10, 2017.  On or before this date, the media had requested the travel expenses for 
the commissioners.  Ms. Boston left the workshop and went upstairs to speak with Robyn 
Thalenfeld, the Executive Assistant to the City Manager. Millie Velasquez also came up to speak 
with Ms. Thalenfeld.  Ms. Velasquez was working on the numbers for Commissioner Bolton’s 
travel expenses and they had started a brief discussion regarding Ms. Velasquez efforts.  Allegedly, 
Commissioner Bolton came into the City Manager’s Office and shouted at Ms. Boston: “Don’t 
talk about me…I am right here.  You are trying to make me look bad…I am going to send a blast 
email to my constituents about you.”  Ms. Boston stated that this was not the first time he had 
bullied her, but it was the first time it had affected her so greatly.  She had to go to a Historical 
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Society Luncheon and she did so shaken and holding back tears throughout the event.  Ms. Boston 
felt Commissioner Bolton’s behavior was needless, unconscionable, and abusive. 
 
Ms. Boston advised of a second impacting incident.  This incident revolves around Commissioner 
Bolton’s Commission picture.  Ms. Boston contracted with a professional photographer to take all 
the Commissioners’ pictures.  The photographer took two series of photos of Commissioner Bolton 
from which the Commissioner could select the photo for use by the City.   
 
Photos were sent to Commissioner Bolton for selection with instructions.  He sent back photos 
with touch-up instructions.  The photos were touched up and returned to the Commissioner.  On 
or about 2/15/17 Ms. Boston alleges that Commissioner Bolton said, “is this a joke?  I look like a 
dead monkey in a casket.  It’s offensive and I don’t like it.  I am going to tell everybody at the 
Commission Meeting about the poor quality of your work.  You make me look like a freaking 
female monkey.”  Ms. Boston alleges that Commissioner Bolton’s comments from the dais was 
not only offensive but also colored her in the public light as a racist. 
 
Ms. Boston further alleges that Commissioner Bolton continued to retaliate against her.  At a 
Special Meeting, Ms. Boston presented her budget, which included a new hire (Marketing 
Specialist).  Commissioner Bolton insisted from the dais that the person hired for the position 
needs to be young, in violation of the law.  Ms. Boston advised that she wanted to advise him of 
this error so he could correct it from the dais, but his hostile and wrongful treatment of her has had 
a chilling effect upon her and her ability to perform her duties as it relates to Commissioner Bolton.   
 
As evidence of the hostile work environment and chilling effect brought on by Commissioner 
Bolton, Ms. Boston advised of an initiative (Community Outreach) she brought before the 
Commission for review and approval.  Commissioner Bolton immediately became upset and his 
response to this item was “I am not supporting it because when I brought it up the Commissioners 
would not do it…it’s my program and I want my program.”  Because of his response the program 
died on the vine. 
 
Ms. Boston asserts that if Commissioner Bolton had any issues with her performance, he should 
have followed the chain of command.  The City Manager is in charge of all staff issues and 
Commissioner Bolton could have advised him of any dissatisfaction he had with her job 
performance for the City Manager to address, instead of his bullying and belittling statements from 
the dais at a public meeting. 
 
ANA FUSCO: 

 
Ms. Fusco is the President of Broward Teachers Union.  She also owns a home in the City.  Her 
issues revolve around Early Voting and the General Election.  She advised that while campaigning 
for the Union’s endorsed candidates Commissioner Bolton would walk up to voters and tell them 
that “That’s not the palm cards to use,” “the Teachers Union did not vet everybody,” and while 
Commissioner Bolton did not personally take her cards out of voters’ hands; he saw others doing 
it and refused to stop the behavior. 
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Ms. Fusco alleged that she heard Commissioner Bolton arguing with a firefighter over 
endorsements.  Then she heard Commissioner Bolton say “I can only hope that a natural disaster 
will happen next election and firefighters will be pulled away to help victims and not be worried 
about a election.” 
 
She alleged that she saw Commissioner Bolton, while at the polls, taking pictures of her friend’s, 
Liliana Ruido, backside after she stood up to walk away.  She confronted the Commissioner and 
told him to leave her alone. 
 
Commissioner Bolton attempted to intimidate me by commenting to several people about voting 
me out of office. 
 
COMMISSIONER MARLON BOLTON: 

 
This investigator met with Commissioner Bolton and shared the complaints of the complainants 
with him.  He responded to most of them: 
 
ZACH STEINER: 
Commissioner alleged that he was getting ready to leave his home when he heard Mr. Steiner 
shouting at his 100 year old neighbor.  He looked outside and saw a white City van blocking his 
driveway.  He alleged that Mr. Steiner was angry and venomous with his neighbor so he came 
outside to ask him to move his vehicle and was ignored by Mr. Steiner.   He said that Mr. Steiner 
moved his vehicle but that was spot he was going to move his vehicle to so he asked him to move 
it again and he was angry and came back banging on his neighbor’s door.  Commissioner Bolton 
said he told Mr. Steiner he was a Commissioner and was a lot more courteous but he looked like 
he was on drugs but Mr. Steiner allegedly told him that the City had him under stress.  
Commissioner Bolton alleged he emailed the City Manager on 8/1/18 and provided with a copy of 
the email.  See Exhibit 10. 
 
LINDA PROBERT: 
Commissioner Bolton stated that he was volunteering for Elvin Villalobos at the Aquatic Park and 
was told that he could bring campaign materials into the facility.  He advised that there was a 
policy to allow it and he emailed it to Greg Warner.  (Exhibit 11).  He further alleged that Larry 
Goehrig was inside handing out campaign materials.  He provided me with a picture, but the picture 
shows only that the campaign materials was in Mr. Goehrig’s back pocket.  He further advised that 
the League of Women Voters said only advocacy for ballot questions was allowed; but he saw it 
as the same thing.  He alleged that he emailed the City with the issue on 9/29/18 at 12:28pm.  He 
further alleged that Michelle James (an opponent) had a contract with Parks and Recreations 
insinuating that friendship may be a motive as to why he was treated differently. 
 
ELISE BOSTON: 
Commissioner Bolton alleges that he only interacted with Ms. Boston through the City Manager 
and had very nominal one-on-one interaction with her.  He acknowledged that he had some 
conflicts with her: 
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1. The first was regarding the Commission pictures.  He did not like the pictures that were 
taken so he had a friend airbrush the pictures.  He alleged that Ms. Boston got upset when 
he asked her to use the touched-up pictures and said no.  He later sought and received 
approval from the City Manager.  He denied making any comment regarding “monkey” or 
“ape.” 
 

2. At one point the Sun Sentinel was looking into commissioners’ travel patterns.  He alleged 
that he went to look at the numbers and when he walked in he heard Ms. Boston saying “I 
can’t stand him etc.”  When He asked her to repeat herself, he alleged that Ms. Boston said 
“I would rather not.”  He denied that he threatened to send an email blast regarding the 
competency of City staff.  However, he alleged that when he inspected the budget, he saw 
that he was over budget but knew it was an error.  He communicated with Robyn 
Thalenfeld, and Ms. Boston admitted that they miscalculated his travel budget at 
approximately $17,000.  He acknowledged that the did not understand the budgeting 
process during his first year as he does now.  He alleged that his travel budget never reached 
the $22,000 or $27,000 anticipated; but asserted that Ms. Boston reported the mistaken 
budget sum purposely to impact him negatively in the press.  Regarding the use of personal 
reward points, he alleged that everybody applies city trips to their personal rewards 
program. 

 
Additionally, Commissioner Bolton alleged that Ms. Boston has been dismissive of him from day 
one.  He stated that she never says good morning to him and passes him with her head down.  He 
alleged that she never uses his title but does so for other commissioners.  He denied calling Ms. 
Boston a racist publicly.  He noted that Ms. Boston allegedly did not include Boyd Anderson in 
Leadership Tamarac, and the program was composed of very majority leaning schools. 
 
MILLIE VELAZQUEZ: 
Commissioner Bolton acknowledged that Ms. Velazquez was his Assistant but has no memory of 
any negative interactions with her. 
 
ANA FUSCO: 
Commissioner Bolton alleged that Ms. Fusco made allegations about everyone that BTU did not 
endorse.  He did not comment on her allegations against him simply stating that they were 
unfounded and without merit. 
 
LARRY GOEHRIG: 
He did not want to discuss Larry Goehrig. 
 
JOHN COATES: 
Commissioner Bolton alleged that he was not aware of a court injunction regarding the campaign 
materials he was allegedly handing out in support of his candidates.  He alleged that on the first 
day Lt. Coates advised him that he had a grievance with the City and the City owes him a lot of 
money and whether Commissioner Bolton was going to help him get his money.  He said I am 
going to follow you like a hawk to which Commissioner Bolton said I can’t talk about this stuff.  
Commissioner Bolton alleged that Lt. Coates followed him for the length of early voting.  
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Commissioner Bolton denies that he threatened Lt. Coates retirement as he had already retired or 
is about to retire and there is no list.  Commissioner Bolton advised that he recently voted yes for 
the CBA. 
 
We discussed some of the comments regarding telling people how to vote.  Commissioner Bolton 
said that he told people to vote their conscience not to vote their skin color.  Further, he cited an 
occasion where a Hispanic lady walked up and asked him if Mr. Villalobos was going to be the 
first Hispanic commissioner; she said Ms. Gomez was the first Hispanic commissioner.  He 
advised her that “our beloved Mayor is a White Jewish individual and only claims to be Hispanic 
because she spent two years in a Hispanic household.”  Commissioner Bolton alleged that he said 
this to help Mayor Gomez; as Tamarac is predominantly White and Jewish and this was a positive 
thing, but she should be mindful of identity politics.  
 
He alleged that he never threatened anyone with reassignment.  But as they were tormenting him 
and his candidates, he did threaten to call Billy to have them reassigned to a different polling 
location. 
 
CHRIS DIXON: 
Commissioner Bolton alleged that the only time he met Mr. Dixon was during the campaign.  
Further, he denied that all he did was remind Ms. Gomez of her pledge against using identity 
politics.  He viewed his actions as more of a mediator versus an agitator insisting that Ms. Gomez 
tell people that she is a White Jewish female.  He witnessed Elvin Villalobos telling voters that he 
was Hispanic which may have forced Ms. Gomez to tell voters that she was Hispanic, but to also 
tell voters that she was adopted for couple years by an adoptive farther who was from Spain. 
 
He denied ever telling any voter to vote Black or that “we don’t need another White cracker on the 
board.”  He denied using religion to support candidates. 
 
MISCELLANEOUS: 
As to allegations of firing the City Manager and/or the City Attorney if he had a solid voting bloc, 
Commissioner Bolton advised that he has the utmost respect for each of them and enjoys working 
with them. 
 
Commissioner Bolton stated that he does not write articles for the Tamarac Talk, but does send in 
press releases from time to time without any compensation.  He further alleges that someone placed 
a tracker on his car, which his mechanic found, and have been trying to hack his phone. 
 
Regarding the D.C. trip, Commissioner Bolton alleged that his son was sick so he bought a one-
way ticket so that he could return home to his son if needed. 
 
MAYOR MICHELLE J. GOMEZ: 

 
Mayor Gomez first covered certain campaign behaviors of Commissioner Bolton that she found 
offensive.  She advised that a few days after the 10/27/2018 shooting at the synagogue in Pittsburgh 
where 11 faithful were killed; Commissioner Bolton told residents that came to early voting “you 
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can’t vote for her; she is a Jewish White woman who can’t speak a lick of Spanish.”  This upset 
Mayor Gomez who said she responded, “yes I am Jewish.”  She alleged that Commissioner Bolton 
went further in indicating to Melinda Gordon that she should “vote for this…” pointing to his skin 
and stating to Diamond Morgan that she should vote for a Jamaican. 
 
The Mayor also asserts that Commissioner Bolton misappropriated the City’s name and/or logo 
for purely political purposes.  She asserts that he utilized the City’s name and/or logo in a political 
advertisement for Residents United (presumably associated with Residents United Network from 
California- addressing affordable housing, homelessness and economic opportunity), with its 
membership base being members of Commissioner Bolton’s church congregation.   
 
The Mayor advised that all commissioners went through Tamarac University where they learned 
the many facets of the City’s governmental operations.  She advised that Commissioner Gelin 
attended Tamarac University in 2009. 
 
As to the specific allegations of the complainants, the Mayor noted as follows: 
 
LIEUTENANT JOHN COATES: 
The Mayor cited an occasion during the campaign where Commissioner Bolton stated that the 
City’s plan to purchase a fire truck was a waste of resources.  He was very antagonistic. 
 
ELISE BOSTON: 
While the Mayor did not witness the encounter between Commissioner Bolton and Ms. Boston, 
she did observe that Millie Velasquez was visibly shaken afterwards. 
 
Mayor Gomez asserts that each Commissioner should be responsible for their individual actions.  
As it relates to Commissioner Bolton, Mayor Gomez does not believe he is fit to serve due to his 
unbecoming behavior as a representative of the City.  We discussed possible discipline to be levied 
by the Commission, as a body corporate, if the allegations of the City’s employee complainants 
are found to have merit.  The Mayor asserts that the following disciplinary sanctions should be 
considered: (1) Removal from office, (2) Suspension, and/or (3) Censure. 
 
VICE MAYOR DEBRA PLACKO: 

 
Vice Mayor Placko advised that she would like to see the Commission commit to respecting each 
other, refrain from interrupting each other on the dais, and exhibit common courtesy towards each 
other.  She noted that the new members interrupt the Mayor or speak over on a regular basis. 
 
While she did not witness the event between Commissioner Bolton and Ms. Velasquez, she did 
hear a loud conversation that caused her to come out of her office.  She saw that the tension was 
too much for “Millie” so she recommended that “Mille” take a private office to gather herself. 
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COMMISSIONER MIKE GELIN: 

 
Did not have any independent knowledge or observations to contribute in regard to the 
complainants’ allegations against Commissioner Bolton.  He was, however, able to share his 
observations of certain complainants. 
 
Commissioner Gelin noted that the firefighters endorsed, Larry Goehrig, who was running against 
Elvin Villalobos, a candidate supported by Commissioner Bolton.  He felt that the firefighters were 
“very aggressive” and “targeted Marlon and Elvin to incite a physical reaction.”  He places no 
value in the complaints of Lieutenant Coates. 
 
Commissioner Gelin voiced a number of concerns that he believes if addressed would alleviate the 
discord between the Commissioners.  The first is that he believes that the Commissioners should 
have more detailed on-boarding.  He advised that although Commissioners are elected for their 
leadership, the City fails to communicate the required processes involved in the day-to-day 
operations and decision making for the various departments that are responsible for the functioning 
of the City.  This makes it difficult for Commissioners to make recommendations for change or 
enhancements in a way that City personnel can better receive them for action.  Second, the 
Commission Meetings should be more structured-clear and decisive rules.  Commissioner Gelin 
alleges that the Mayor changes the rules of the meeting when applied to African Americans.  He 
cites the passing over of Commissioner Bolton for Vice-Mayor, the denial of County 
Commissioner Dale Holness from speaking at a City Commission meeting while, as a practice, 
allowing others to speak who were not on the agenda, and changing the location of Commissioner 
Report from the beginning of the agenda to the end when most residents have already left. 
 
Although Commissioner Gelin did not have any personal or independent knowledge regarding the 
complaints made against Commissioner Bolton, he advised that if found to have merit, he believes 
a public reprimand or censure would be appropriate. 
 
COMMISSIONER JULIE FISHMAN: 

 
Commissioner Fishman’s interview mostly revolved around the functional process of the 
commission meetings and peer-to-peer interaction by and between the commissioners.  Her main 
point as to Commissioner Bolton is the need for him and all commissioners to respect the process.  
She is generally supportive of the idea of the Commission adopting a civility policy.  She gave as 
an example the fact that at the last Commission Meeting two commissioners were shouting over 
the Mayor who was trying to get the meeting back on track.  Commissioner Fishman insists upon 
all Commissioners maintaining a professional decorum and civility in representing the City and 
working with staff and each other. 
 
Additionally, Commissioner Fishman has identified that some Commissioners feel that they need 
additional help in exercising their duties and have asked for a Legislative Aid position to be created 
and assigned to each Commissioner.  The idea presented would only have three (3) such positions 
created which would report directly to the City Manager, as is required by the City’s Codes.  She 
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asserts that Commissioners Bolton and Gelin pushed back on the reporting requirement to have 
the Legislative Aids report directly to the Commissioners without consideration of the fact that 
such a change would require a charter amendment. 
 
The lack of professionalism between Commissioners is of great concern.  Commissioner Fishman 
expressed her annoyance and disappointment in her fellow Commissioner’s behaviors.  She 
believes that the unprofessional interactions directed towards her upon the dais is an effort to 
publicly shut her down and make her look like the “bad guy” in furtherance of preparations for the 
next election.  She characterizes this behavior as being “sexist” and gives examples of 
Commissioner Gelin laughing and/or shaking his head as subtle attempts to invalidate her thoughts 
or ideas both on and off the dais.  We discussed possible amelioration ideas which included 
appointing a Sergeant-at-Arms, having each Commissioner review Robert’s Rules of Order, and 
developing more detailed board rules. 
 
Commissioner Fishman was able to provide her observations regarding the complaints filed 
against Commissioner Bolton by employees and other stakeholders.  We discussed the individual 
claims made by the employees. 
 
Elise Boston:  
Commissioner Fishman has observed that the unprofessional actions of Commissioner Bolton 
towards Ms. Boston has “soured her to the job.”  She cited Commissioner Bolton’s castigation of 
Ms. Boston’s performance from dais as being “inadequate” or “poor” as examples.  She believes 
that any criticism he may have of Ms. Boston’s performance should have been addressed in private.  
She believes that his criticism of Ms. Boston publicly “took a difficult situation and made it worst.” 
 
Millie Velasquez:  
Commissioner Fishman did not observe the exchange between Commissioner Bolton and Ms. 
Boston as it related to Ms. Velasquez, but she heard Commissioner Bolton’s voice as he was 
talking and it was loud enough for her to leave her office to see what was going on in the lobby 
area.  She observed that Commissioner Bolton was upset at something Ms. Velasquez had done.  
Commissioner Bolton was allegedly shouting at Ms. Velasquez and waving his arms.  Ms. 
Velasquez appeared intimidated, leaning as far back in her chair as possible cowering from the 
actions of Commissioner Bolton.  Commissioner Fishman advised that Ms. Velasquez stepped out 
for a few moments and then later requested a transfer out of the department.  It is Commissioner 
Fishman’s understanding that Ms. Velasquez did so as she did not want to work with 
Commissioner Bolton anymore. 
 
LIEUTENANT JOHN COATES:  
Commissioner Fishman advised that Lieutenant Coates shared with her that Commissioner Bolton 
advised him that he was going to make sure that certain firefighters were fired and that the service 
went to contract with BSO. 
 
Generally, Commissioner Fishman believes that Commissioner Bolton practices discrimination on 
and off the dais in verbiage and behavior.  Commissioner Bolton looks at the outside of a person 
and makes determinations based on color and race.  She based this observation on a few examples 
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including his comments about the Mayor from the dais and comments during Early Voting.  During 
Early Voting she observed Commissioner Bolton advising voters that Mayor Gomez was not really 
Hispanic but was just a “White Jewish woman.”  She believes that he has a disregard for anybody 
that doesn’t look like him. Further, his belittling comments from the dais has created a hostile work 
environment for the City Attorney, City Manager, Greg Warner, Elise Boston, and Linda Probert. 
 
While she had no independent knowledge regarding the circumstances surrounding Linda Probert, 
she advised that the Hispanic Vote event was a private event and since it is a 501(c)(6) they had 
requested that no campaign materials be brought into the event. 
 
Commissioner Fishman believes that a reasonable Commission based sanction for Commissioner 
Bolton’s behavior would include censure and a public apology.  She acknowledged that she has 
observed a sincere effort on his part to behave more appropriately over the last four (4) 
Commission meetings. 

 
BARBARA TARNOVE: 

 
The City provided me with a copy of Ms. Tarnove’s statement, a City resident and nonemployee, 
and same was considered in full in the analysis of this investigation.  (Exhibit 9).  Ms. Tarnove 
was not interviewed. 
 

ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS 
 
STANDING: 

 
Generally, the City Complainants: Mildred Velasquez; Robyn Thalenfeld; Elise Boston; John 
Coates Billy Duesler, and Chris Dixon; as well as the Resident Complainants: Larry Goehrig and 
Ana Fusco, each have standing to file a complaint/suit pursuant to the City Code Sec. 2-274. - 
Enforcement by suit: The city commission or any resident or group of residents of the city may 
bring any appropriate suit to compel compliance with the provisions of this article.  
 
In reviewing the specifics of Larry Goehrig’s complaint and that of Ana Fusco, it is apparent that, 
while offensive and potentially in violation of F.S. 104 et seq., if true, their complaints would have 
been better resolved if lodged with the Florida Ethics Commission for the campaign violations 
alleged.  Ergo, this Investigator will not address the matters alleged in either of their complaints in 
the analysis or findings. 
 
LEGAL LIMITATIONS: 

 
This matter has proven to be most difficult as the allegations were not by and between “employee 
and employee” or employee and employer/manager.”  Instead, the operative complaints were made 
by City employees against a sitting City Commissioner.  Under normal circumstances, we could 
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find guidance for a remedy in the City’s personnel manual5.  The City policies that would normally 
be at issue, include but are not limited to the following: 2.01 General Provisions-Equal 
Employment Opportunity and Prohibited Discrimination: 2.02 Prohibited Discrimination-General; 
2.03 Prohibited Harassment-General; 2.06 Responsibility to Report Discrimination and/or 
Harassment; 2.07 Retaliation; 2.08 Complaint Procedure; 2.09 Compliance; 10.01 A. and C.-Code 
of Ethics; 10.03 A. and B.-City Property; 11.01 Employee Discipline-General Overview; 11.03 
Employee Discipline –All Employees Except at Will Employees; and 11.04 Examples of Reasons 
for Termination.   
 
Further, as many of the allegations in the statements taken involve racial discrimination elements 
it is only natural that we consider the potential federal and state laws that could be in violation in 
this matter.  Clearly, the preeminent body of law regarding racial discrimination would be Title 
VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C.A. §§2000e et seq. and the Florida Civil Rights Act 
("FCRA"), Sections 760.01 - 760.11, Florida Statutes.  Somewhat less known and used body of 
law that could also be applied in this matter for racial discrimination would be the Civil Rights Act 
of 1986, 42 U.S.C.A. §1981.  The difference between §1981 and Title VII is that, unlike Title VII, 
§1981 does not have any caps and individual managers may have individual liability.   

 
Commissioner Bolton is not considered an employer as the 42 U.S.C.A. §§2000e et seq. defines 
an employer as:  
 
(b) The term “employer” means a person engaged in an industry affecting commerce who has 
fifteen or more employees for each working day in each of twenty or more calendar weeks in the 
current or preceding calendar year, and any agent of such a person, but such term does not include 
(1) the United States, a corporation wholly owned by the Government of the United States, an 
Indian tribe, or any department or agency of the District of Columbia subject by statute to 
procedures of the competitive service (as defined in section 2102 of Title 5 [UNITED STATES 
CODE]); 
 
Nor is he considered an employee, as that term is defined as: 

 
(f) The term “employee” means an individual employed by an employer, except that the term 
“employee” shall not include any person elected to public office in any State or political 
subdivision of any State by the qualified voters thereof, or any person chosen by such officer to be 
on such officer’s personal staff, or an appointee on the policy making level or an immediate adviser 
with respect to the exercise of the constitutional or legal powers of the office. The exemption set 
forth in the preceding sentence shall not include employees subject to the civil service laws of a 
State government, governmental agency or political subdivision. With respect to employment in a 
foreign country, such term includes an individual who is a citizen of the United States. 
 
Although not applicable here, the City’s policy on harassment is clear: 
 

2.03 PROHIBITED HARASSMENT -GENERAL 

 
5 “City of Tamarac Personnel Manual,” Effective January 1, 2015. 
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All employees are entitled to perform  their work  in an environment  
free from  illegal  harassment,  either  overt or covert, regardless  of 
their race, color, sex including  pregnancy,  religion, age, national  
origin,  marital status, political affiliation, familial status, sexual   
orientation, gender identity and expression, or disability. The use of 
any derogatory terminology by any employee to refer to any 
identifiable group or individual is prohibited. 

 
Any conduct which has the purpose or effect of unreasonably 
interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an 
intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment for that 
individual or group of individuals is prohibited. 

 
However, as many of the complainants feared reprisal for coming forward and, indeed, two opt to 
withdraw their complaints based on such fears, it is important for this Investigator to articulate 
with specificity the laws against hostile work environment and retaliation in an effort to deter any 
such actions being encouraged or otherwise supported by the City Commission, whether 
intentionally or unintentionally: 
 
HOSTILE WORK ENVIRONMENT RETALIATION  

 
Title VII prohibits employers from retaliating against an employee “because [s]he has opposed 
any ... unlawful employment practice ... or because [s]he has made a charge, testified, assisted, or 
participated in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under this subchapter.” 42 
U.S.C. § 2000e–3(a). Gowski v. Peake, 682 F.3d 1299, 1311 (11th Cir. 2012). 

 
To establish a prima facie case of retaliation, the plaintiff must show that (1) [s]he engaged in 
statutorily protected activity; (2) [s]he suffered a materially adverse employment action; and (3) 
there was a causal link between the two. Dixon v. The Hallmark Companies, Inc., 627 F.3d 849, 
856 (11th Cir.2010); Gowski v. Peake, 682 F.3d 1299, 1311 (11th Cir. 2012). 

 
The requirement that the harassment be “severe or pervasive” contains an objective and a 
subjective component. Miller v. Kenworth of Dothan, Inc., 277 F.3d 1269, 1276 (11th Cir.2002). 
“Thus, to be actionable, this behavior must result in both an environment that a reasonable person 
would find hostile or abusive and an environment that the victim subjectively perceive[s] ... to be 
abusive.” Id; Gowski v. Peake, 682 F.3d 1299, 1312 (11th Cir. 2012).  

 
Discrete acts cannot alone form the basis of a hostile work environment claim. See Davis v. Coca–
Cola Bottling Co. Consol., 516 F.3d 955, 970 (11th Cir.2008) (emphasis added); see also McCann 
v. Tillman, 526 F.3d 1370, 1378 (11th Cir.2008) (as opposed to “[d]iscrete acts such as termination, 
failure to promote, denial of transfer, or refusal to hire,” a hostile work environment claim 
addresses acts “different in kind” whose “very nature involves repeated conduct,” such as “ 
‘discriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and insult.’ ” (quoting Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp. v. 
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Morgan, 536 U.S. at 117, 122 S.Ct. 2061)); Gowski v. Peake, 682 F.3d 1299, 1312–13 (11th Cir. 
2012). 
 
 
 
RETALIATION; ADVERSE EMPLOYMENT ACTION 

 
Retaliation means [discharging] [or] [demoting] [or] [suspending] [or] [taking certain adverse 
employment action against] an employee because the employee engaged in [a] protected activity. 
 
An adverse employment action is retaliation if it affects the terms and conditions of employment 
and would discourage a reasonable employee in claimant's position from engaging in a protected 
activity.  F.S. 448.101(5) and case law .Donovan v. Broward Cnty. Bd. of Comm'rs, 974 So.2d 58, 
60 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008); and In re Standard Jury Instructions in Civil Cases--Report No. 2011-01 
(Unlawful Retaliation), 95 So. 3d 106, 109–10 (Fla. 2012) 
 
FINDING: WITH THE AFOREMENTIONED LEGAL ANALYSIS IN MIND, IT IS THE FINDING OF THIS 
INVESTIGATOR THAT AFFECTED EMPLOYEES MAY ONLY SECURE A REMEDY FROM THE CITY 
COMMISSION AND/OR THE GOVERNOR OF FLORIDA. 
 
COMPLAINTS: 

 
The complaints of Mildred Velasquez; Robyn Thalenfeld; Elise Boston; John Coates Billy 
Duesler, and Chris Dixon all deal with a level of harassment, retaliation, and Commissioner 
Bolton’s violation of City Code of Ethics, Sec. 2-400 et seq., which is applicable whether 
conducting City business or on his personal time.  Additionally, Commissioner Bolton’s insistence 
on staff changing his travel budget report may be a violation of F.S. 838.022(1)(a) as well. 
 
FINDING: EACH OF THE COMPLAINTS FILED BY THE CITY COMPLAINANTS ARE FOUND TO HAVE 
MERIT AND SUPPORT COMMISSIONER BOLTON’S VIOLATION OF CITY CODES.  ALTHOUGH 
COMMISSIONER BOLTON PROFFERED EXPLANATIONS FOR THE ALLEGATIONS LEVIED AGAINST 
HIM, THIS INVESTIGATOR FOUND THEM TO BE WANTING AND SELF-SERVING AND WITHOUT 
MERIT.  
 
WITNESS STATEMENTS: 

 
The witness statements of the Commissioners provided information relative to the allegations 
made by the City employees, but was riddled with many of their own complaints as to the 
functioning of the commission, the effectiveness of commission meetings, and the general lack of 
civility and professionalism being the root cause of what ails the proper function of the City 
Commission. 
 
These complaints are relevant as they elucidate upon the behaviors alleged by the City 
complainants and we will attempt to address them in the recommendation section. 
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ACTION TO RESOLVE COMPLAINTS: 

 
As mentioned previously, Commissioner Bolton is not subjected to the authority of the City’s HR 
Department nor is he an employee subject to the disciplinary policies of the City and the final 
decision of the City Manager.  Thus, only the City Commission as a body politic and corporate 
may enter a final resolution to these matters, short of the Governor of Florida removing 
Commissioner Bolton under F.S. 112.50 et seq.   
 
The City Commission has the following options: 
 

1. Set a Special Set Commission Meeting to address this matter, as the only matter 
on the agenda; 
 

2. Formally adopt this Investigator’s Final Report, inclusive of evidence, analysis 
and findings; 
 

3. Formally make any other findings that the Commission desires in this quasi-
judicial process; based on facts and law (including the City Charter, policies and 
procedures); 

 
4. Provide Commissioner Bolton with an opportunity to respond to any and all 

findings at the Special Set Meeting; 
 

5. If the Commission as a body corporate so finds, publicly censure Commissioner 
Bolton6. 

 
6. Adopt a civility policy reaffirming certain sections of the City Code and providing 

a structure for the Commission and the employees to move forward with 
confidence of no further violations. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
This investigator only tenders the following recommendations for the City Commission’s 
consideration and provides further recommendations as follows: 
 

1. This investigator has taken the liberty to prepare a proposed Commission Code of Civility 
and Operating Procedures for your consideration and attached hereto.  It is recommended 
that the City Commission, in conjunction with the City Attorney and City Manager, 
consider the terms and conditions therein for adoption, subject to changes deemed 
appropriate. 
 

 
6 Censure can include forfeiture of any position held by Commissioner Bolton that he was elected to or assigned by the City 
Commission, including the position of Mayor.  See Exhibit 12 (Johnson v. City of Debary, Case No.: 2016-11483-CIDL, 17th 
Judicial Circuit for Volusia County, Florida. 
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2. The Commission’s regular meeting process is spelled out in Tamarac City Code, Ch. 2 Sec. 
2-29; 2-34.  Under Sec. 2-34, (g) Order of business – (3), the Code allows for the 
“Commission Report” to occur at the beginning of the meeting; before actions and 
following the “Proclamations/special recognitions.”  Also, Sec. 2-29(d) and (d)(1) does 
give the mayor discretion as to when members of the public may speak, even though Sec. 
2-34(g)(3)(g) places “Public participation” before the commission’s action item agenda.  
Commissioners can add items to the agenda that he or she may deem appropriate Sec. 2-
34)(j)(2); however, this apparent discretion is still subjected to the terms of Sec. 2-34(e) 
and specifically 2-34(e)(5) which does require a majority vote to modify the contents of 
the commission agenda.  The City Commission may consider participating in a workshop 
to further explain the Commission Meeting process and decide on a final format or reaffirm 
that which is already noted in the City Codes. 
 
It is important to remember, Tamarac City Code, Sec. 2-29(d)(3)-(4) provides the mayor 
with instructions on what topics are allowed for comments by the public and, if applicable, 
limited as “quasi-judicial.”  However, the public may make general comments at the 
“Public participation” stage of the meeting.  
 
Thus, to the extent that Commissioner Gelin’s grievance regarding the allegation of the 
Mayor placing of the Commission Report at the end of the meeting and denying County 
Commissioner Holness an opportunity to make an impromptu presentation at a particular 
commission meeting, it was in the Mayor’s discretion to act as she saw fit to keep the 
commission meeting moving in an orderly manner.   However, I do make the following 
recommendations: 
 

a. Insert the following language in Sec. 2.34(g)(3) in between “d. 
Proclamations/special recognitions” and “e. Commission reports”: Deletions and 
changes to the agenda. 

 
b. The Commission may wish to consider adding the following introductory 

paragraph to Sec. 2-29: 
 

General procedures. The following procedures are intended by the City Commission 
of the City Tamarac to, where practicable, be used for the orderly conduct of 
meetings. The Chair of the City Commission will utilize these rules as a general 
guideline for the orderly conduct of city meetings. The Chair should always refer to 
him/herself as the Chair. All actions of the City Commission shall be by proper 
motion, seconded and passed by the appropriate vote, unless provided otherwise in 
the City Charter, and subject to the laws of the United States and the State of Florida. 
In general, the procedures of business may be guided by Robert's Rules of Order 
(Revised). All motions, unless otherwise designated by the City Commission, may be 
made orally. The City Commission will meet as prescribed by the Charter. The time 
and date of the regular meetings will be set by the Commission. A schedule of the 
regular meetings shall be published. 
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3. Recommend that the mayor or presiding officer utilizes the services of the city attorney, 
who has been designated the parliamentarian for the commission, to interpret Robert’s 
Rules of Order as a persuasive effort to resolve any procedural contention at a public 
meeting by and between fellow commissioners.  Code of the City of Tamarac, Florida, Ch. 
2 Sec. 2-34(d)(2). 

 
4. Recommend that the Commission opt to amend its Charter, Art. 1.-Creation and Powers, 

Sec. 1.01 to add: “Commission-manager form of government. - The form of government 
of the City of Tamarac, provided for under this Charter, shall be known as the 
"commission-manager" form of government.7 

 
RETENTION OF INVESTIGATIVE RECORDS 

 
Unless advised otherwise by the City Attorney, the City shall retain records received and relative 
to this investigation for the greater of a period of five years or the minimum retention period 
required by law. 
 

RELEASE OF INVESTIGATIVE RECORDS 
 
Unless advised by the City Attorney or required by law, the City shall not release any investigative 
files, including interviews and findings. 
 
Any information obtained and reported by third parties employed or engaged by the City 
concerning an employee’s credit worthiness, credit standing, credit capacity, character, general 
reputation, personal characteristics or mode of living will be considered to be a “consumer report” 
under the Fair Credit Reporting Act. Accordingly, the City will provide notice to the employee 
that such reports have been received. The employee may request and obtain a copy of the consumer 
report. 
 

NOTICE TO GOVERNMENT AGENCIES 
 
Before notifying any government agency concerning a City investigation, the City Attorney will 
conduct a full review of the investigation and will determine what information, including 
documents, should be released to the government agency, if required by law or contract. 

 
7 “As defined in The Commission-Manager Form of Government:  “the commission-manager form is the system of local 
government that combines the strong political leadership of elected officials in the form of a commission or other governing body, 
with the strong managerial experience of an appointed local government manager. The form establishes a representative system 
where all power is concentrated in the elected commission and where the commission hires a professionally trained manager to 
oversee the delivery of public services.” Proponents of this form of government argue that the separation of administrative and 
legislative functions is necessary to increase efficiency and supplement the functions of elected supervisors, who are part-time in 
many counties, and that the issues are now so complex that a full-time expert in administration is needed. (Salant, 1989)”.  The 
Commission-Manager Form of Government, NACo, October 2009. 
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DISCLOSURES TO THIRD PARTIES 
 

No City employee or agent may make any disclosure to third parties (e.g., lawyers, investigators, 
insurance representatives, media reporters) regarding the particulars of any City initiated 
investigation without prior approval from the City Attorney. 
 
 

CONCLUSION 
 

The allegations herein are very unfortunate for all involved.  There were many statements taken in 
this matter.  The findings and/or opinions of this investigator are not designed to castigate any of 
the witnesses or parties in this matter or cast aspersion upon that which they have recounted.   
 
Instead, it is the intent of the investigator to provide the City of Tamarac with a professional legal 
analysis of the facts as applied to the laws and/or policies that are relevant in this matter for its 
own independent decision-making processes. 
 
As always, we remain available to you should you have any further requirements of us in 
completing this investigation.  
 

 
 

 
 
Respectfully submitted,  

 
                                                            By: _________________________ 

Levi G. Williams, Jr., Esq.   
Fla. Bar No.: 0057169 
levi@leviwilliamslaw.com  
Law Offices of Levi Williams, P.A.  
12 S.E. 7th Street, Suite 710  
Legacy Bank Building 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 
Telephone: (954) 463-16268                             
Facsimile:  (954) 463-1630   
Tamarac HR Investigator 

 

mailto:levi@leviwilliamslaw.com
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